RECEIVED 09-03-2019

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT I

Case Nos. 2019AP000691-CR & 2019AP000692-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

CESAR ANTONIO LIRA,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from an Order Denying a Motion for Custody Credit and an Order Denying a Motion for Reconsideration in Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable Frederick C. Rosa Presiding

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

CHRISTOPHER P. AUGUST Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1087502

Office of the State Public Defender 735 North Water Street, Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202-4116 (414) 227-4805 augustc@opd.wi.gov

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Mr. Lira escaped from Wisconsin custody and was rearrested in Oklahoma. His supervision was revoked and Wisconsin placed a detainer on him. Was he entitled to credit against those revocation cases beginning with the date of his incarceration in Oklahoma?

The circuit court held that Mr. Lira was legally ineligible for sentence credit.

2. Mr. Lira was eventually transported back to Wisconsin before being sent to Oklahoma once more. Was he entitled to credit against his revocation cases once he was transported back to Wisconsin?

The circuit court held that Mr. Lira's claim was procedurally barred based on its reading of Wis. Stat. § 973.155(5).

3. As an additional alternative, was Mr. Lira entitled to credit against his revocation cases from the date he was arrested in Oklahoma until the date he was sentenced in that state?

The circuit court held that Mr. Lira's claim was procedurally barred based on its reading of Wis. Stat. § 973.155(5).

STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Publication of this case is warranted. Here, the circuit court has adopted a stringent interpretation of the requirement under Wis. Stat. § 973.155(5) that the defendant first "petition" the Department of Corrections (DOC) for credit before filing a motion in circuit court. There is an absence of recent, citable, legal authority interpreting this statute. Lacking

See State v. Holstrom, Appeal No. 2016AP183-CR, unpublished summary disposition (Wis. Ct. App. February 14, 2017) (App. 206); State ex rel. Singh v. Kemper, Appeal No. 2014AP1230 unpublished summary disposition (Wis. Ct. App. February 3, 2015) (App. 208); State v. Pittman, Appeal No. 2013AP186-CR, unpublished summary disposition (Wis. Ct. App. July 9, 2014) (App. 210); State v. Gould, Appeal No. 2013AP1828-CR, unpublished summary disposition (Wis. Ct. App. April 9, 2014) (App. 212); State v. Spears, Appeal No. 98-0815, unpublished slip op. (Wis. Ct. App. March 18, 1999) (per curiam) (App. 214); State v. Ferguson, Appeal No. 97-0238-CR, unpublished slip op. (Wis. Ct. App. July 9, 1998) (per curiam) (App. 216); State v. Deveney, Appeal No. 97-2849-CRNM unpublished slip op. (Wis. Ct. App. March 31, 1998) (per curiam) (App. 218); State v. Paul, Appeal No. 9701647-CR, unpublished slip op. (Wis. Ct. App. February 3, 1998) (per curiam) (App. 224); State v. Moore, Appeal No. 96-1595-CRNM unpublished slip op. (Wis. Ct. App. May 8, 1997) (per curiam) (App. 226); State v. Moskonas, Appeal No. 96-0604-CR, unpublished slip op. (Wis. Ct. App. September 19, 1996) (App. 228); State v. Bradley, Appeal No. 94-07080-CR, unpublished slip op. (Wis. Ct. App. February 8, 1996) (per curiam) (App. State v. Reynolds, Appeal No. 92-0188-CRNM, unpublished slip op. (Wis. Ct. App. October 6, 1992) (per (continued)

more precise guidance from the appellate courts, the circuit court has adopted a very deferential review of the agency's legal conclusions, imposing an unwarranted burden on criminal defendants. Clarification is therefore warranted.

Given the complexity of the procedural history, oral argument may be helpful to this Court in resolving the credit dispute.

curiam) (App. 234); State v. Ray, Appeal No. 91-0462-CR, unpublished slip op. (Wis. Ct. App. October 30, 1991) (per curiam) (App. 236); State ex rel. Quinn v. Kolb, Appeal No. 88-2210, unpublished slip op. (Wis. Ct. App. September 7, 1989) (App. 238); State v. Busse, Appeal No. 84-1446-CR, unpublished slip op. (Wis. Ct. App. May 2, 1985) (App. 242); State v. Bucaro, Appeal No. 84-752-CR, unpublished slip op. (Wis. Ct. App. January 23, 1985) (per curiam) (App. 245). Mr. Lira is not citing these cases as precedent or as authority; he merely brings them to the Court's attention only in the context of the publication request. As these are not citable "authorities" counsel has omitted them from his table of authorities. Counsel has included copies of the decisions in his appendix, however, in order to show good faith compliance with Wis. Stat. § 809.23(3)(c).

Counsel identifies one citable, but unpublished case, *State v. Maxey*, Appeal No. 2015AP2137-CR, unpublished slip op. (Wis. Ct. App. April 6, 2016), which references, but does not otherwise explain, the statute in a footnote. (App. 248).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Background

On March 25, 1992, Mr. Lira was arrested for possession of cocaine as a second and subsequent offense in Milwaukee County Case No. 1992CF921195. (R1 52:10; R1 1:1; R2 39:10); (App. 138). He pleaded guilty to that offense and was sentenced to ten years of imprisonment on July 21, 1992. (R1 17:1); (App. 101). The circuit court granted 118 days of sentence credit. (R1 17:1); (App. 101). On September 17, 1996, Mr. Lira was released on parole. (R1 52:12; R2 39:12); (App. 140).

On January 11, 1999, Mr. Lira was arrested on new charges. (R2 1:1). He was subsequently charged in Milwaukee County Case No. 1999CF163 with conspiracy to deliver cocaine, obstructing or resisting an officer as a repeater, possession with intent to deliver THC as a party to the crime and as a second and subsequent offense, and possession of a firearm as a repeater. (R2 1:1).

As a result of these new charges, Mr. Lira's parole on 1992CF921195 was revoked on February 5, 1999. (R1 52:13; R2 39:13); (App. 141). The DOC ordered that Mr. Lira be reconfined for a period of four years, nine months, and fifteen days. (R1 52:13;

R2 39:13); (App. 141).² Mr. Lira was returned to DOC custody to begin serving that revocation sentence on February 15, 1999. (R1 52:15; R2 39:15); (App. 143).

With respect to 1999CF163, Mr. Lira entered a plea to possession of cocaine with intent to deliver and possession of a firearm by a felon. (R2 12:1). He was sentenced on December 1, 1999 as follows:

- Count One, the cocaine charge, a sixteen year imposed and stayed prison sentence, consecutive. (R2 21:1); (App. 106). The Court further ordered that he be placed on probation for twelve years. (R2 17:1); (App. 102).
- Count Four, felon in possession of a firearm as a habitual criminal, Mr. Lira received a two-year indeterminate prison sentence.³ (R2 20:1); (App. 105).

Mr. Lira received 29 days of sentence credit, applicable to his prison sentence on Count Four. (R2 20:1); (App. 105). Mr. Lira was eventually released from DOC custody on January 2, 2001 after completing the Challenge Incarceration Program. (R1 52:12; R2 39:12); (App. 140).

² According to DOC records, the total term of available reconfinement was five years, six months, and six days. (R1 52:14; R2 39:14); (App. 142).

³ Because the JOC is silent on the matter, the sentence was presumably concurrent to the revocation sentence in 1992CF921195.

On November 12, 2002, Mr. Lira's probation agent attempted to take Mr. Lira into custody as a result of alleged rules violations. (R1 52:12; R2 39:12); (App. 140). In response, Mr. Lira fled. (R1 52:12; R2 39:12); (App. 140). Mr. Lira remained in absconder status until he was arrested by agents of the Wisconsin Department of Justice on January 6, 2004. (R1 52:12; R2 39:12); (App. 140). DOC records indicate that a formal violation of probation (VOP) hold pertaining to both cases was placed on Mr. Lira by the DOC on January 9, 2004. (R1 52:19; R2 39:19); (App. 147). Mr. Lira was then transferred to the Milwaukee Secure Detention Facility (MSDF) on January 13, 2004. (R1 68:2; R2 55:2); (App. 199). On January 20, 2004, Mr. Lira was charged with endangering safety with use of a dangerous weapon in Milwaukee County Case No. 2004CM1010. (R1 68:2; R2 55:2); (App. 199).

However, on April 15, 2004, Mr. Lira escaped from custody. (R1 52:20; R2 39:20); (App. 148). A revocation order and warrant (ROW) revoking Mr. Lira's parole on 1992CF921195 and his probation on

⁴ The circuit court made a finding of fact that Mr. Lira also had an open bench warrant in connection with Milwaukee County Case. No. 2002CM9589 (R1 68:2; R2 55:2); (App. 199). The circuit court further found, however, that the charge was dismissed without prejudice on January 9, 2004. (R1 68:2; R2 55:2); (App. 199). The court file for this matter was not available to undersigned counsel during postconviction proceedings below; however, counsel has no reason to question the circuit court's finding of fact.

1999CF163 was nonetheless entered on April 16, 2004. (R1 52:19; R2 39:19); (App. 147). Mr. Lira received credit on that ROW from January 9, 2004 until April 15, 2004. (R1 52:19; R2 39:19); (App. 147).

Mr. Lira's freedom from custody was short-lived, however. On April 16, 2004, he was arrested for new criminal conduct in Oklahoma. (R1 68:2; R2 55:2); (App. 199). On the same date, Wisconsin placed an interstate detainer on Mr. Lira. (R1 52:20; R2 39:20); (App. 148).

Mr. Lira remained in custody in Oklahoma and, on September 29, 2004,⁵ was convicted of four charges in Oklahoma Case No. BCF-04-79: second degree murder, eluding a police officer, running a roadblock, and child abuse/neglect. (R1 52:21; R2 39:21); (App. 149). Mr. Lira received a global sentence of twenty years. (R1 52:22; R2 39:22); (App. 150).

As a result of his escape from MSDF, Mr. Lira was also charged with escape in Milwaukee County Case No. 2004CF2092. (R1 68:2; R2 55:2); (App. 199). Mr. Lira was therefore returned to Wisconsin on or about May 22, 2005. (R1 68:2; R2 55:2); (App. 199).

⁵ The circuit court made a finding of fact that Mr. Lira was sentenced on September 30, 2004. (R1 68:2; R2 55:2); (App. 199). Based on the documentation provided by undersigned counsel, this would appear to be a clerical error.

⁶ The booking records relied on by Mr. Lira in postconviction proceedings indicate that Mr. Lira was "booked" into the Milwaukee County Jail on May 22, 2005. (R1 52:28; R2 (continued)

According to the circuit court's findings of fact, Mr. Lira was then served with an arrest warrant in both 2004CM1010 and 2004CF2092 on May 23, 2005. (R1 68:2; R2 55:2); (App. 199). According to CCAP records, Mr. Lira made appearances on both matters in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court on that same date.⁷ Records maintained by the Milwaukee County Sheriff's Department show that he remained in their custody while these matters pended. (R1 52:28; R2 39:28); (App. 156).

On June 15, 2005, Mr. Lira posted bail in Milwaukee and was erroneously released from custody. (R1 68:2; R2 55:2); (App. 199). Mr. Lira remained at liberty until he was arrested in San Antonio, Texas on December 13, 2005. (R1 52:35; R2

39:28); (App. 156). However, the circuit court's findings of fact show that he arrived in Wisconsin custody several days earlier, on May 19, 2005. (R1 68:2; R2 55:2); (App. 199). Other publicly available sources support that conclusion. See In re Arbitration of a Dispute Between Milwaukee County Sheriff's Association and Milwaukee County, Case 576 (Issued April 19, 2006) (available online at

http://werc.wi.gov/grievance_awards/6972.pdf)

https://wcca.wicourts.gov/caseDetail.html?caseNo=2004CM00101001&countyNo=40&index=0&mode=details;

https://wcca.wicourts.gov/caseDetail.html?caseNo=2004CF0020 92&countyNo=40&index=0&mode=details. Mr. Lira asks this Court to take judicial notice of these records pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 902.01. See Kirk v. Credit Acceptance Corp., 2013 WI App 32, \P 5 n. 1, 346 Wis. 2d 635, 829 N.W.2d 522 (Court of Appeals can take judicial notice of CCAP records on appeal).

39:35); (App. 163). The next day, Milwaukee County filed a new criminal case, charging Mr. Lira with a single count of bail jumping in Milwaukee County Case No. 2005CF6953 as a result of a missed court date which occurred after having he was erroneously released. (R1 68:2; R2 55:2); (App. 199).

Mr. Lira returned once more to Milwaukee County on January 11, 2006, where he remained while his open criminal cases wended their way through the circuit court. (R1 52:28; R2 39:28); (App. 156). On March 17, 2006, he resolved all three open Milwaukee County cases in a plea agreement, receiving a global sentence of three years initial confinement and three years of extended supervision, consecutive to his Oklahoma sentence. (R1 68:2; R2 55:2); (App. 199).

Following his plea and sentencing in Wisconsin, Mr. Lira returned to Oklahoma on April 5, 2006, where he remained while serving his Oklahoma sentence. (R1 52:28; R2 39:28); (App. 156). According to the circuit court's findings of fact, Mr. Lira completed that sentence on June 9, 2017. (R1 68:2; R2 55:2); (App. 199). On June 16, 2017, Mr.

⁸ In his postconviction motion, counsel for Mr. Lira relied on records from the VINE system, which indicated that the sentence concluded on June 12, 2017. (R1 52:38; R2 39:38); (App. 166). However, the circuit court's findings of facts track with other documents in the record, including Mr. Lira's own averments in his prior *pro se* pleadings. Mr. Lira is therefore not challenging the circuit court's finding on appeal.

Lira returned to DOC custody and was placed at Dodge Correctional Institution. (R1 52:20; R2 39:20); (App. 148). According to DOC records, Mr. Lira was being "returned from escape" despite twice having returned to Wisconsin in the intervening years since that original escape. (R1 52:20; R2 39:20); (App. 148).

Following Mr. Lira's return to Wisconsin, the DOC issued an amended ROW with respect to both 1992CF921195 and 1999CF163 on August 24, 2017. (R1 52:39; R2 39:39); (App. 167). According to that ROW, Mr. Lira was entitled to credit against his revocation cases from April 16, 2004 until October 5, 2004. (R1 52:39; R2 39:39); (App. 167). However, a second amended ROW issued on March 9, 2018 removed this credit. (R1 56:17; R2 43:17); (App. 190). A credit computation issued by the DOC, and relied on by the circuit court in its findings of fact, shows that the DOC believes both sentences are calculated to commence on June 9, 2017, the date of Mr. Lira's apparent release from Oklahoma custody. (R1 68:2-3; R2 55:2-3); (App. 199-200).

Motions for Credit

On September 19, 2017, Mr. Lira filed a *pro se* motion for custody credit, citing both Wis. Stat. § 973.15(5) and *State v. Brown*, 2006 WI App 41, 289 Wis. 2d 823, 711 N.W.2d 708. (R1 35:1; R2 22:1); (App. 108). Mr. Lira asked that he receive credit "for all days of custody he was confined in a different jurisdiction following sentence after revocation in the present case." (R1 35:1; R2 22:1); (App. 108). He

asked for credit from April 16, 2004 until June 9, 2017. (R1 35:2; R2 22:2); (App. 109).

Just two days later, the motion was denied in a written order signed by the Honorable Carl Ashley. (R1 36:1; R2 23:1); (App. 110). The order asserted:

On September 19, 2017, the defendant filed a pro se motion for custody credit in the above cases for the period of April 16, 2004 to June 9, 2017. This period is after sentencing. Section 973.155(2), Stats., provides that "[i]n the case of revocation of probation, extended supervision or parole, the department [agent], if the hearing is waived, or the division of hearings and appeals . . . , in the case of a hearing, shall make such a finding [of credit] which shall be included in the revocation order." The court does not become involved in credit determinations after sentencing, and therefore, the defendant is obliged to submit his request for credit to the Department of Corrections. If the Department denies his request, he may petition the court for credit under section 973.155(5), Stats.

(R1 36:1; R2 23:1); (App. 110). The motion was denied "without deciding the merits." (R1 36:1; R2 23:1); (App. 110).

On January 8, 2018, Mr. Lira resubmitted his motion for credit. (R1 37:1; R2 24:1); (App. 111). This time, Mr. Lira included several attachments. First,

 $^{^{9}}$ A procedural footnote has been omitted from the block quote.

Mr. Lira included a letter written to his DOC agent, Ms. Amy Pucilowski, asserting that his sentences should have begun running after the first ROW was issued. (R1 37:2; R2 24:2); (App. 112). Mr. Lira therefore asked for clarification as to why he was not receiving credit after October 5, 2004 in the ROW issued on August 24, 2017. (R1 37:2; R2 24:2); (App. 112). Mr. Lira also pointed out that he had never received credit for the time he spent in the Milwaukee County Jail after having been returned to Wisconsin custody in both 2005 and 2006. (R1 37:2; R2 24:2); (App. 112). Finally, Mr. Lira cited Wis. Stat. § 973.15(5) for the proposition that his Oklahoma sentence should be counted against the revocation sentences at issue in this appeal. (R1 37:2; R2 24:2); (App. 112).

Mr. Lira also included a copy of a letter addressed to a supervisor at "Fox Lake Correctional Records," the Assistant Administrator for the Division of Hearings and Appeals, and Niel Thoreson, the Regional Chief for Division Three of the DOC Community Corrections division. (R1 37:3; R2 24:3); (App. 113). Mr. Lira again asserted that he should have begun serving his revocation sentences when they were first revoked in April of 2004. (R1 37:3; R2 24:3); (App. 113). He asked for credit from the date of his arrest in Oklahoma until the date of his improper release in Wisconsin in 2005, as well as all credit from the date of his arrest in Texas until his release from Oklahoma custody in 2017. (R1 37:3; R2 24:3); (App. 113).

He also included copies of emails between DOC officials discussing the matter and a copy of a letter from Niel Thoreson concluding that "additional credit was not warranted." (R1 37:4-5; R2 24:4-5); (App. 114-115). Mr. Lira also included a letter from the Assistant Administrator of the Division of Adult Institutions, acknowledging that Mr. Lira had concerns regarding "sentence structure and the application of sentence credit," which directed Mr. Lira to address his concerns with the records office. (R1 37:9; R2 24:9); (App. 119). Mr. Lira included relevant computations, a copy of the amended ROW, and inmate complaint forms as well as other relevant attachments. (R1 35; R2 24); (App. 111).

In a letter dated January 9, 2017, Staff Attorney Michael Grossman requested additional documentation and, in a follow-up letter, Mr. Lira timely responded to that request. (R1 38: R1 39; R2 25; R2 26).

On January 22, 2018, Judge Ashley once again denied the motion—this time on the merits. (R2 40:1; R2 27:1); (App. 128). The circuit court's brief written decision asserts that "The defendant is not entitled to credit for time spent in the service of a sentence in an unrelated matter." (R1 40:1; R1 27:1); (App. 128).

Mr. Lira filed a timely notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief. (R1 41; R2 28). Undersigned counsel was appointed and filed a timely notice of appeal. (R1 46; R2 33). Counsel reviewed the *pro se* submissions and, after concluding

that the circuit court may not have fully appreciated the legal components of Mr. Lira's claim, filed a notice of voluntary dismissal. (R1 49; R2 36).

Counsel then filed a third motion for custody credit on October 12, 2018. (R1 52:1; R2 39:1); (App. 129). The motion included a robust statement of facts and forty-two pages of supporting documentation, including numerous documents which were not made available to the circuit court when it considered the earlier *pro se* motions. (R1 52; R2 39); (App. 129).

Counsel divided the request for sentence credit, presenting the circuit court with three alternatives: First, counsel asked that Mr. Lira receive credit pursuant to Brown against both revocation cases from April 16, 2004 onward—the entire block of disputed credit highlighted in Mr. Lira's pro se pleadings. (R1 52:5; R2 39:5); (App. 133). Second, counsel asked the Court for credit, pursuant to *Brown*, from the date Mr. Lira was returned to Wisconsin in 2005 onward. (R1 52:6; R2 39:6); (App. 134). Counsel argued that if the Court did not agree that Mr. Lira received the *entire* disputed block of credit, then he was still entitled to a substantial portion of the credit he had asked for in his earlier pleadings under an alternative legal theory. (R1 52:6; R2 39:6); (App. 134). Finally, if the Court did not agree with the preceding two arguments, counsel asserted that Mr. Lira was owed a smaller subset of the requested portion, representing credit from the date of his arrest in Oklahoma until the date he was

sentenced in the Oklahoma matter. (R1 52:7; R2 39:7); (App. 135).

In addition to these requests, which were contemplated by Mr. Lira's earlier pleadings, counsel also identified an additional area of potential credit, arguing that Mr. Lira was entitled to additional credit on 1992CF921195 because he did not receive all appropriate credit at the time of his revocation in 1999. (R1 52:7; R2 39:7); (App. 135).

Three days later, the circuit court once again denied the motion for credit, asserting that it had "insufficient information to decide the defendant's motion for custody credit." (R1 53:2; R2 40:2); (App. 172). It asked counsel to submit additional pieces of information:

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