Filed 05-12-2021

Page 1 of 59

FILED 05-12-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

STATE OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

Case Nos. 2019AP691-CR & 2019AP692

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner,

v.

CESAR ANTONIO LIRA,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Decision of the Wisconsin Court of Appeals, District I, Reversing in Part Orders Denying a Motion for Custody Credit and a Motion for Reconsideration in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable Frederick C. Rosa, Presiding.

> RESPONSE BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

> > CHRISTOPHER P. AUGUST Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1087502

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

Thus, instead of creating a special credit rule, as the legislature apparently intended, the language of § 973.15(5) is swallowed whole by § 973.155(1)(a). Either § 973.155(1)(a) already allows the defendant to seek credit under that statute with no consideration of § 973.15(5) or, in the alternative, credit plausibly allowed under § 973.15(5) is disallowed under the "controlling" language of § 973.155(1)(a) and the cases interpreting it.

Faced with this difficult reading, the State claims that § 973.15(5) would allow credit in one special situation: when the defendant is lawfully

 $^{^{9}}$ Obviously, if the detainer was one filed under the IAD, the defendant may be entitled to credit for his "temporary custody" under the terms of that statute. Wis. Stat. § 976.05(f).

Page 35 of 59

transported to another jurisdiction and receives a concurrent sentence for conduct that is "factually connected" with the sentence he received in Wisconsin. (State's Br. at 27). This attempt to save a flawed statutory construction is problematic for several reasons.

First, it would apply to an extremely small number of potential defendants and would require an incredibly unique fact pattern that seems so rare as to be almost impossible. In interpreting the statute, it makes little sense to assume the legislature was specially articulating an obscure rule only rarely applicable to special fact patterns.

Second. it would create additional an precondition on the computation of sentences that would now contradict the conventional understanding of concurrent and consecutive sentences-while a defendant would ordinarily be entitled to have their Wisconsin and out-of-state concurrent sentences run together, this reading appears to suggest that the two sentences need to be factually related for this to be so. Thus, if a defendant is sentenced in Wisconsin, and then receives a concurrent sentence in some other jurisdiction, what principle does the Department of Corrections apply in computing that sentence? Do the sentences run concurrently or must the defendant now establish that they are factually related?

Third, it places multiple affirmative requirements on the statute that are not reflected in the plain language. For example, the statute does not

28

appear to require an eventual conviction in the foreign jurisdiction; indeed, it appears to allow credit if the defendant was transported and then, after a lengthy trial, acquitted.

Accordingly, this Court should reject the State's interpretation, which requires not only a jettisoning of precedent, but also a departure from conventional statutory interpretation principles.

- F. A proper interpretation of § 973.15(5) establishes that *Brown* was correctly decided.
 - 1. *Brown* correctly interpreted the statute.

As set forth above, the plain language of § 973.15(5) makes clear that a Wisconsin defendant is entitled to sentence credit against their Wisconsin sentence when the state makes the affirmative decision to transfer them to a foreign jurisdiction. This reading was ratified by the Court of Appeals in *Brown*.

As described by the Court of Appeals, the facts of that case are as follows: In 1992, Brown pleaded guilty to a drug offense. *Brown*, 2006 WI App 41, ¶ 2. He was placed on probation and then revoked in 1995. *Id.*, ¶ 3. "Although Brown was ordered to be sent to Dodge Correctional Institution to serve his sentence, he apparently never arrived there [...]." *Id.* Instead, he was turned over to federal authorities and ultimately charged with drug crimes in federal court. *Id.* He was convicted, served his sentence, and then returned to
Wisconsin. *Id.* At that point, Brown was surprised to learn that his federal incarceration did not count toward his Wisconsin sentence and ultimately asked for that credit in circuit court. *Id.*, ¶ 7. After the circuit court denied the motion, the Court of Appeals reversed. *Id.*, ¶ 11.

Notably the State's position in Brown was similar to its position here—that § 973.155(1)(a)'s "course of conduct" rule mandated that no credit be awarded. Id., ¶ 11. However, the Court of Appeals concluded § 973.155(1)(a) was "not dispositive" and therefore looked to a more specific statute—§ 973.15(5). Id. Because the plain language of that statute has two requirements which Brown satisfied that he was a convicted offender and that he had been lawfully turned over to a foreign jurisdiction—the Court of Appeals held that he was entitled to credit against his Wisconsin case for time spent in federal This published decision custody. Id. and its interpretation of § 973.15(5) became binding law throughout Wisconsin. Wis. Stat. § 752.41(2).

While the State asserts *Brown* is mistaken and should be overruled, its arguments are not persuasive.

First, the State asserts that *Brown* rendered the phrase "under the terms of s. 973.155" surplusage. (State's Br. at 24). This is not true. *Brown* does not "read the statutory phrase...out of the statute." *State* v. *Matasek*, 2014 WI 27, ¶ 17, 353 Wis. 2d 601, 846 N.W.2d 811. Instead, the language at issue still contributes to a construction which is faithful to

legislative intent, meaning it is not surplusage. *Id.*, ¶ 18. As set forth above, the reference to § 973.155 can be understood as a procedural mechanism for effectuating § 973.15(5)'s substantive rule. Merely because the language is not playing the role the State wishes does not make it wholly superfluous.¹⁰

Second, the State alleges that *Brown* "ignores," "conflicts," and is "inconsistent" with § 973.155. (State's Br. at 24). Again, this is not so. Faced with a plainly articulated legislative directive to award credit in certain scenarios, *Brown* gave effect to the specific language in § 973.15(5). As set forth above, there is still room for § 973.155 in the Court of Appeals' reading; the Court of Appeals merely declined to adopt a reading of the statute which would allow it to be swallowed whole by § 973.155(1)(a). Just because the State is unhappy with the result does not mean that this interpretation is irrational or arbitrary, as it alleges in its brief. (State's Br. at 24).

Next, the State misstates the holding of *Brown*, claiming that the Court of Appeals held "the statutes cannot be reconciled, and thus one must defeat the other." (State's Br. at 24). The Court of Appeals did no such thing. When faced with two substantive credit

¹⁰ Moreover, the judicial "preference" against surplusage is not "absolute." *State v. Mason*, 2018 WI App 57, ¶ 26, 384 Wis. 2d 111, 918 N.W.2d 78. It is permissible for a reasonable interpretation furthering plain legislative intent to render "some" language surplusage. Thus, a reading which incorporates some, but not all, of § 973.155 is perfectly consistent with settled canons of statutory construction.

rules, the Court of Appeals prudently applied the more specific statute--§ 973.15(5). In doing so, the Court of Appeals did not read out the reference to § 973.155, instead, it gave effect to the expressed legislative intent as it was mandated to do.

Contrary to its argument that the statute is unambiguous and can be resolved via plain meaning analysis, the State then makes a cursory legislative history argument. (State's Br. at 24). Observing that both § 973.15(5) and § 973.155 were drafted at the same time, the State suggests this is proof that the legislature intended the statutes to work in harmony. (State's Br. at 25). That assumption is fair; yet it does not work in the State's favor—as set forth above, the statutes can be harmonized, just not in a way consistent with the State's preferred reading.

Finally, the State makes a naked appeal to policy, dragging the facts of this case into its statutory construction argument. (State's Br. at 25). The State appears to suggest, without evidence, that the outcome of this specific case is inconsistent with legislative intent. These arguments, however, are not appropriately considered in discerning plain language meaning; they are an appeal to outcome-determinative judging and should be wholly rejected.

2. When properly understood, there is no conflict with *Rohl* or *Boettcher*.

In order to justify its request that the Court overrule *Brown*, the State manufactures an alleged conflict between *Brown* and two other sentence credit cases: *State v. Rohl*, 160 Wis. 2d 325, 466 N.W.2d 208 (Ct. App. 1991) and *State v. Boettcher*, 144 Wis. 2d 86, 100, 423 N.W.2d 533 (1988). The conflict is illusory.

In *Boettcher*, this Court held that when a defendant seeks sentence credit under Wis. Stat. § 973.155(1)(a), that credit must be applied on "a day-for-day basis" with no dual credit permitted. *Boettcher*, 144 Wis. 2d at 100.

The Court of Appeals relied on *Boettcher* for its holding in *Rohl*. As set forth by the Court of Appeals, Rohl was under the supervision of the Department of Corrections when he transferred that supervision to California. *Rohl*, 160 Wis. 2d at 209. While in California, he committed new crimes and was jailed pending the resolution of his California case. *Id*. Wisconsin also issued a revocation warrant. *Id*. Rohl was ultimately convicted and served a brief prison sentence in California. *Id*. He received credit against the California case for his presentence confinement in California. *Id*.

Following completion of his California prison term, Rohl was returned to Wisconsin, where he was then formally revoked from his Wisconsin supervision and returned to prison. *Id*. Rohl asked that he receive credit, against his Wisconsin case, for his presentence confinement in California—the same credit that had already been applied to his California sentence. *Id*. at 210. The circuit court denied the motion. *Id*.

On appeal, the Court of Appeals affirmed, relying on § 973.155 to conclude that credit was not

Page 41 of 59

warranted. Id. Wis. Stat. § 973.15(5) was neither cited nor relied upon in that case, as it was inapplicable to those facts—Rohl had not yet been revoked from his Wisconsin supervision when he began serving his California sentence. Instead, the Court of Appeals California sentence-which concluded that the Rohl's revocation and sentencing predated in Wisconsin—could not be construed as "concurrent" (as no Wisconsin sentence was running at that time) and thus, dual credit was not permitted under Wis. Stat. § 973.155 and Boettcher, 144 Wis. 2d 86. Id.

Rohl therefore covers a distinct factual situation than was addressed in *Brown* because Rohl had entirely served his California sentence before his sentence was revoked in Wisconsin. Had Rohl been first revoked in Wisconsin—like Brown and Mr. Lira then *Brown* and § 973.15(5) would arguably allow credit if Wisconsin had made the decision, at that point, to transport him to California. Instead, Rohl completed his California sentence prior to revocation of his Wisconsin supervision, and thus Wis. Stat. § 973.15(5) was inapplicable, and not even referenced in *Rohl*, which relied entirely upon Wis. Stat. § 973.155.

Accordingly, because *Rohl* concerns a significantly distinct fact pattern which did not fall under Wis. Stat. § 973.15(5), it is difficult to understand how or why it "conflicts" at all with *Brown*.

3. State v. Martinez, and the separate writing cited by the State, is inapplicable to this case.

Having failed to establish an actual conflict between binding precedents and having also failed to make a free-standing argument for an alternative reading of § 973.15(5), the State falls back on its only remaining source of "authority": a concurrence filed in *State v. Martinez*, 2007 WI App 225, 305 Wis. 2d 753, 741 N.W.2d 280.

Martinez is the only other published case addressing the applicability of § 973.15(5). Notably, the authored opinion is relatively innocuous and does not stand for any notable legal proposition relevant to this appeal as, like *Rohl*, it is factually distinct from the circumstances of *Brown* and Mr. Lira's case.

Martinez was charged, convicted, and sentenced in Wisconsin. *Martinez*, 2007 WI App 225, ¶ 2. He completed his sentence and was released on parole. *Id*. At that point, federal authorities took custody of him and he began serving a federal sentence. *Id*. Martinez completed that sentence and was again released to serve out the remainder of his Wisconsin parole. *Id*., ¶ 3. Martinez subsequently violated his parole and was reincarcerated. *Id*., ¶ 4.

Upon his reincarceration in his Wisconsin case, Martinez asked that he be given credit on his reincarceration term for the federal sentence he had previously served, citing § 973.15(5). *Id.*, ¶ 5. On appeal, the Court of Appeals correctly concluded that

Page 43 of 59

§ 973.15(5) was inapplicable; unlike the defendant in *Brown* (and, like *Rohl*) Martinez was not revoked and serving his Wisconsin sentence when he was turned over to federal authorities—instead he was on parole. *Id.*, ¶ 17. Because Martinez was not serving his Wisconsin sentence at the time he was in federal custody, he was not entitled to credit against a hypothetical future revocation, a result which the Court of Appeals labeled "absurd." *Id.* The case was therefore decided via straightforward application of *Rohl*.

The *Martinez* holding is not controversial; Mr. Lira does not dispute that the Court of Appeals got it right. Instead, *Martinez* shows the State doing what § 973.15(5) appears to require—putting the Wisconsin first. Here. Wisconsin waited sentence until Martinez's state sentence was completed; once he was released on parole, he was then taken into federal custody. Martinez did not receive dual credit as a result. Had Wisconsin done things otherwisehanding over Martinez to the federal authorities while he was still serving his Wisconsin sentence-then Brown and § 973.15(5) would mandate that his Wisconsin sentence continue to run. That, however, was not what happened in Martinez.

Martinez is therefore a straightforward § 973.155 case and is of no value to this Court's analysis of Wis. Stat. § 973.15(5), contrary to the State's assertion. The Court of Appeals in *Martinez* found § 973.15(5) inapplicable under the facts of that case, and instead applied § 973.155. It is therefore misleading to

suggest, as the State does throughout its brief, that this case developed the law with respect to § 973.15(5); the Court of Appeals simply found § 973.15(5)inapplicable to the facts in *Martinez* and applied other binding authority interpreting § 973.155.

Likewise, it is also not correct to assert, as the State does in its brief, that the three-judge panel "split on the rationale" for rejecting Martinez's credit claim. (State's Br. at 22). While Judge Nettesheim filed a concurrence, he agreed that the outcome of the case was governed by *Rohl. Id.*, ¶ 19 (Nettesheim, J, *concurring*). He wrote separately, however, merely to voice his opinion that a case which the panel had already found to be inapplicable—*Brown*—ought to be overruled. *Id.*, ¶ 22.

Judge Nettesheim believed that the Court of Appeals ought to overrule *Brown* for those reasons now endorsed by the State in this appeal—that it fails to fully incorporate § 973.155(1)(a) into § 973.15(5) and that it disregards *Rohl*.¹¹ As asserted throughout this brief, this viewpoint, while deserving of respect when voiced by a member of a three-judge panel, is still mistaken. Full incorporation of § 973.155(1)(a) into §

¹¹ It is unsurprising that this viewpoint is confined to a concurrence; not only was the Court of Appeals powerless to invalidate *Brown*, *Cook v. Cook*, 208 Wis. 2d 166, 190, 560 N.W.2d 246, 256 (1997), the Court of Appeals was also dutybound to decide the dispute in *Martinez* on the narrowest grounds. *State v. Blalock*, 150 Wis. 2d 688, 703, 442 N.W.2d 514 (Ct. App. 1989).

973.15(5) is not textually required and would effectively "read out" that legislative directive. Moreover, as *Rohl* is a § 973.155 and not a § 973.15(5) case, there is no conflict.

Thus, the concurrence in *Martinez*, while technically "persuasive" authority, contributes nothing to this Court's analysis because the facts of *Martinez* are wholly distinguishable from the facts and the issue presented in this case. Accordingly, this Court should decline the State's invitation to overrule *Brown* based upon a concurring opinion in a factually distinct case.

G. Sound principles of *stare decisis* should govern.

Having demonstrated that *Brown* was not incorrectly decided, Mr. Lira will only briefly address the issue of *stare decisis*—an issue somewhat ignored in the State's brief requesting invalidation of *Brown*.

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